047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: 80,713 FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL APPEAL DOCKET NO.: 91-3761

DON BROWN, )
Petitioner, )
Vs. )
STATE OF FLORIDA )
Respondent. )

FILED
SID J. WHITE
DEC 8 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

ON PETITION FOR LEAVE OF A
DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT,
FIRST DISTRICT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA
CASE NO.: 91-3761

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

DAVID, MORROW & BLOCK, P.A. Suite 2501 Gulf Life Tower Gulf Life Drive Jacksonville, Florida 32207 (904) 399-5626

JEFFERSON W. MORROW, ESQUIRE Attorney for Petitioner

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellant/Cross-Appellee in the District Court of Appeal, First District, and the Defendant in the trial court. Respondent was the Appellee/Cross-Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, First District, and the Prosecution in the trial court. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The record on appeal will be referred to as "R", and the transcript will be referred to as "T".

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On April 17, 1991, the Appellant was arrested and taken into He was charged by custody on an arrest warrant. [R.2]. information of attempted first degree murder, armed robbery and attempted armed robbery. [R.38]. He entered a not guilty plea and was tried before a jury on the week of October 14, 1991 in Duval County, Jacksonville, Florida. The jury found the Appellant guilty as charged in all three counts of the information. [R.47]. He was sentenced to twenty (20) years with a three (3) year minimum mandatory, [R.56-70] on all three (3) counts and the sentences were This case involves a victim named Daniel concurrent sentences. Patrick McKenna, who was robbed and shot, and permanently paralyzed from the waist down. [T.215-216]. He testified that he owed his next door neighbor, Anthony Biggins, \$10.00 for a ten speed. [T.210-212]. One day the ten speed was gone and he had just woken up, and Biggins and another person came in and started roughing him [T.214]. Biggins didn't care that his bike was missing, he up. just wanted his money. [T.213]. One of the two men hit McKenna on the head and then the other man shot him. McKenna thought he had heard Biggins yelling to the other man not to shoot. [T.215].

During jury selection, the State struck a potential black juror named Kyle. She was a counseling professor at the local community college doing vocational athletic and professional counseling. The State accepted a black male juror but peremptorily

challenged a black female juror without the defense objection. After that, Juror Kyle was up during the striking process and the State peremptorily struck her. Defense requested an inquiry pursuant to **State v. Neil**, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), pointing out that Kyle was black and it was the second black stricken by the State. The judge requested the State to give a reason for the challenge and the State explained that the reason for challenging her was on her occupation and that he typically made his practice not to seat psychology majors or mental health counselors as jurors because he feels that they had an undue sympathy for the Defendant and perhaps tend to believe its a society problem and not a defendant problem. Defense further objected that that was not significant enough to warrant a preemptory challenge but the court ruled that the reasons were race neutral and non-pretextural.

The State called James Alligood who testified that he was Daniel McKenna's roommate. [T.181]. On the day in question, Anthony Biggins was knocking on the door and Mr. Alligood opened it a little bit and Biggins pushed open the door passed him. [T.186]. Biggins went into Daniel McKenna's room and then another person came up behind Alligood and put a pistol to his temple, and demanded money. [T.186]. He was told to lay on the floor facing the bed. [T.187]. He could see Biggins hitting the victim, McKenna, and asking for money. [T.188]. Then he heard a gun shot. [T.188]. The person that shot the gun immediately got up and ran out of the house but Biggins remained in the house for a little

while and paced three or four times by the side of the bed.

[T.188]. After Biggins left, Alligood contacted the police.

[T.189]. On cross-exam, he was not able to pick out the individual from a photo spread who shot McKenna. [T.203].

The State then called the Co-Defendant, Anthony Biggins, who testified that he entered into a plea bargain and he was charged with the robbery of Daniel McKenna, and his understanding of the plea agreement was to testify to the truth, and he'd be sentenced to fifteen (15) month. [T.254]. He testified he did take the bicycle from McKenna's house and later, talked to Don Brown about going over there with him because McKenna owed him some money. He testified he went over to the residence with the Appellant and Appellant, Don Brown, put a pistol on James Alligood. [T.259]. Co-Defendant Biggins then testified he struck McKenna several times. Then he saw the Appellant cock the pistol and shot Danny McKenna. [T.260]. Biggins identified the Appellant in the court room as the person who shot McKenna.

Detective Gilbreath testified that he took a statement from the Appellant after Miranda wherein the Appellant admitted that he was outside of the residence when the shooting occurred and that he had talked to Biggins and that Biggins had told him that he was going to get some money from the cracker that owed him. [T.339]. He also told the detective that some other man who had the gun had already run through the house in the alleyway. [T.339]. He also said that he was not involved in the shooting, that it was Biggins.

[T.339]. This statement was reduced in writing by the detective and signed by the Appellant according to Detective Gilbreath. [T.342]. The State then rested its case.

The Defense then called Detective Parker to the stand. He said he went over to the Appellant's house and saw Mr. Brown running out of the back door. [T.381]. The Defense then called Officer Bisplinghoff who testified he arrived at the scene and the victim told him he was shot by Biggins. [T.392]. Detective Schawb was called by the defense to testify regarding a conversation he had with the victim at the scene also. He testified also that the victim told him that Biggins shot him. [T.396]. The Defense also called Silas Dyas [T.398], who testified Biggins' had a reputation for being dishonest. During closing arguments the prosecutor argued that the jurors had one final duty left and that was to find the Appellant guilty. [T.453].

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Appellate Court correctly certified this question of great public importance regarding exclusion of a black juror for racial reasons.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## **ISSUE I**

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY STRUCK A BLACK JUROR.

During jury selection, the State struck a potential black juror named Kyle. She was a counseling professor at the local community college doing vocational athletic and professional counseling. The State accepted a black male juror but peremptorily challenged a black female juror without the defense objection. After that, Juror Kyle was up during the striking process and the State peremptorily struck her. Defense requested an inquiry pursuant to State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), pointing out that Kyle was black and it was the second black stricken by the The judge requested the State to give a reason for the challenge and the State explained that the reason for challenging her was on her occupation and that he typically made his practice not to seat psychology majors or mental health counselors as jurors because he feels that they had an undue sympathy for the Defendant and perhaps tend to believe its a society problem and not a defendant problem. Defense further objected that that was not significant enough to warrant a preemptory challenge but the court ruled that the reasons were race neutral and Joiner v. State, 593 So.2d 554 (Fla. 5th DCA pretextural. 1992) is cited in the First District Court's Opinion as being factually on all fours with the instant case.

Distilling the issue down before the court it is really whether or not this Neil issue is waived by the fact that the defense counsel objected and asserted a Neil Challenge, and then following the prosecutor's explanation objected again to the explanation's validity and thereafter, affirmatively accepts the jury as ultimately constituted. A common sense analysis suggests that the objection is not waived. Why would the defense attorney go through the trouble of initially clearly preserving the Neil issue and following the entire exchange, (including the prosecutor's reasons), object that the reasons were insufficient, To contend that he accepted the jury as and then waive it? suggesting that he didn't really mean to preserve the Neil issue is This would clearly be an argument for a form over substance; the substance being that the issue was originally preserved and the intent of the trial counsel is clear by the fact that a jury was ultimately congregated with his objection still standing. This does not mean that he waives his entire objection.

It is clear that as a general rule, an objection must be made at the time of the commission of the alleged error to be maintained on appeal. Edwards v. State, 93 So.2d 182 (Fla. 4th DCA 1966). In fact, a fundamental error in the absence of a timely objection interposed at trial may be raised by the defendant when remarks of the prosecutor are in clear error. Krulak v. State, 300 So.2d 315 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974). If the objection is premature, it will not be considered unless it is raised again in the trial at the time when

the error is committed. Here the objection was timely made and was not premature.

A Neil/Slappy problem generally requires a granting of a new See: State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), clarified State v. Castillo, 486 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986); State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 128 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 47 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 109 (1989). In Castillo, supra, the court held that an objection to improper use of preemptory challenges must be made before the jury is sworn. Id. at Pg. 565. Here, an objection was made to the challenge and was exercised prior to the swearing of the jury panel which actually deliberated on the case. Therefore, error appears which affects the right of the appellant to have a trial before an impartial jury. In Gooch v. State, 17 F.L.W. D2248, (Fla. 2nd DCA, Oct. 2nd, 1992), the First District Court reversed an armed robbery conviction and remanded the case for trial where the State's use of a preemptory challenge to excuse the sole black juror on the panel indicated a strong likelihood that the challenge was based on race. However, in that case, the trial judge declared he did not believe an explanation for the strike was necessary. The State provided a reason anyway and the defense responded that the reason was not race neutral. That case cited the Barwick v. State, 547 So.2d 612 (Fla. 1989) decision which held that the trial court must make a conscientious evaluation of the appellant's Neil claim by critically considering the reason given by the State for the strike. It is clear the Neil

decision was "unmistakenly based" on the quarantee of a trial by an impartial jury drawn from a cross-section of the community contained in Article I, Section 16, of the Florida Constitution. Kibler v. State 546 So.2d 710, 712 (Fla. 1989). In Neil, Article I, Section 16 was construed to entitle both the defendant and the state to "the issuance that preemptory challenges will not be exercised so as to exclude members of discrete racial groups solely by the virtue of their affiliation." Kibler at Pg. 713. Therefore, the State may object to the defendant's use of preemptory challenges in a allegedly discriminatory matter on a constitutional basis. Moreover, Slappy has been somewhat limited by Jefferson v. State, 595 So.2d 38 (Fla. 1992) where it held that it is within the trial court's discretion to fashion an appropriate remedy under the particular facts of each case, as long as neither parties constitutional rights are infringed, that may include the seating of an improperly challenged juror. That apparently would apply to both the defendant and the State. See also: State v. Aldret, 14 F.L.W. 592 (Fla., Sept. 25, 1992). While the Joiner, supra, case and Morehead v. State, 17 F.L.W. D 796, (Fla. 3d DCA, April, 1992), hold that any such Neil error is waived after the entire jury panel was selected, before being sworn, when both the defendant and his counsel accepted the jury as seated. Morehead case, the defendant and his attorney told the trial judge that they had gone over each juror and the defendant had approved each and every one. There, the issue is different that the one in

our case where there was no "abandonment" issue. The defense abandoned the Neil issue in that case but not in the case at bar.

## CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the Petitioner requests this Honorable Court and remand proceedings for a new trial.