100

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

JAN 4 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

DON BROWN,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 80,713

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0325791

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and appellee below, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Petitioner, DON BROWN, the defendant in the trial court and appellant below, will be referred to in this brief as petitioner. Any record references to the record on appeal will be noted by the symbol "R," and references to hearing transcripts will be noted by the symbol "T." All references will be followed by the appropriate page numbers in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Due to the completely inadequate statement of the case and facts by petitioner, the state submits the following.

The state charged petitioner with attempted first degree murder, attempted armed robbery, and armed robbery (R 38). During jury selection, black venirewoman Kyle told the jury and prosecutor that she was a counselling professor at the local community college doing vocational, athletic, and professional counselling (T 83). The trial court then presented each venireperson by name. The state accepted black venireman McGill (T 139) and struck black venirewoman Brackett (T 140). Defense counsel did not contemporaneously challenge this strike (T 140). The state then struck venirewoman Kyle (T 143). Defense counsel objected:

Your Honor, at this time I would objection to the State using peremptory challenge to strike Ms. Kyle. She is a black female [and] my client is It appears that the State a black male. another strike to strike Brackett, who is also black, and those are the only blacks that have come into seats on the panel so far.

(T 143). Although the state pointed out that it had accepted black venireman McGill, defense counsel contended that there was no racially neutral reason for the state to strike black venirewoman Kyle (T 143-44).

The state explained its strike as follows:

Your Honor, the reason for selecting the challenge on her is her occupation. She's a mental health counselor, she's also a professor of psychology. specifically questioned her as to her occupation. That part of counselling deals with vocational training, and that type of training[.] I typically make it my practice not t[o] seat psychology majors or mental health counselors as jurors, because I feel they have an undue sympathy toward a defendant, perhaps tend to believe it's a societ[al] problem and not a defendant problem for the crime that's committed, and so that's why I challenge her, for that particular reason.

And would also cite that the State has accepted M[r]. McGill, who is a black juror, and the State struck Ms. Brackett for the reason that her family has -- numerous members of her family have numerous convictions involving crimes of dishonesty, and we struck her for that reason.

(T 144-45).

Defense counsel responded:

Just for the record, she's a professor of psychology at FCCJ. Her husband owns a day car[e] center. She appears to be a very qualified juror in this case, and just that she may at some point do vocational counselling I don't think is a significant enough problem for the State to exercise a peremptory challenge.

(T 145).

The trial court ruled:

I'll find that the reasons are supported by her answers given in response to the questions, that they are reasonable[,] race neutral and non-pretextual. When I was a prosecutor many years ago I would not let a psychology major, or professor, for that matter, sit on a jury with regards to prejudice, and therefore I find . . . [that] the State's reasons are race neutral for exercising a peremptory challenge as to Ms. Kyle.

(T 145). Subsequently, jury selection proceeded and both sides accepted the jury as ultimately constituted, without further objection or motion to strike the panel (T 145-58).

The jury found petitioner guilty as charged (R 48-50), and the trial court adjudicated petitioner guilty and sentenced him to three concurrent terms of 20 years' incarceration (R 56-61). Petitioner timely appealed to the First District (R 73), presenting one issue for review: "Whether the prosecutor improperly struck black jurors."

On October 22, 1992, the First District affirmed petitioner's convictions and sentences, but certified the instant question as one of great public importance. Brown v. State, 17 Fla. L. Weekly D2451 (Fla. 1st DCA Oct. 22, 1992). The district court found Suggs v. State, 603 So.2d 6 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), on point. Based on the Suggs holding that "expression of disagreement with the trial court's

determination after . . . inquiry was not sufficient to preserve this issue for appeal," <u>id.</u>, this court found that defense counsel's failure to request a remedy failed to preserve the issue for appellate review. Petitioner timely filed his notice to invoke and brief on the merits. This answer brief follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question in the a defendant initially objects to a Ιf affirmative. particular peremptory strike, it is not clear if the objection is made with the intent to strike the jury panel, terminate the trial, or simply warn opposing counsel. Thus, when the trial court accepts the state's explanation for a given strike, if the defense still objects to the seating of that particular venireperson, it should again object and request some sort of action from the trial court to correct the problem and preserve the issue. Only at that point does the trial court become fully aware of the purpose behind the defendant's objection and then become capable of correcting the problem. After all, this is the underlying current of the principle of preservation: To place the trial court on notice contemporaneously so that the court may correct any problem at the earliest juncture possible.

In any event, it is clear that the prosecutor offered a reasonable, non-pretextual, race neutral reason for striking venirewoman Kyle: Kyle's involvement in vocational training could have created an "undue sympathy" toward petitioner (T 144). Further, the state struck another venirewoman employed in the same profession as venirewoman Kyle.

ARGUMENT

Issue

DOES A DEFENDANT FAIL TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL HIS OBJECTION TO THE COMPOSITION OF A JURY PANEL WHEN, AFTER HEARING AN EXPLANATION ELICITED THROUGH A NEIL INQUIRY, HE EXPRESSES DISAGREEMENT WITH THE EXPLANATION BUT NEVERTHELESS ACCEPTS THE JURY PANEL AS ULTIMATELY CONSTITUTED, AND DOES NOT AGAIN RAISE THE ISSUE UNTIL AFTER AN ADVERSE VERDICT AND JUDGMENT HAS BEEN RECEIVED?

This Court should answer the question in the affirmative. The opinion of the First District is based on sound, well-reasoned case law from other district courts of appeal and this Court, and petitioner has offered no persuasive reason why this Court should deviate from this established path of law.

In <u>Joiner v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), Joiner objected to the state's strike of juror number eleven. The trial court asked the prosecutor to explain the strike, and the prosecutor stated that he simply preferred other jurors "down the line." <u>Id.</u> at 555. The court ruled that the reason was race neutral, after which defense counsel disagreed. The voir dire continued, the jury was accepted by both parties, and the defendant was found guilty.

The Fifth District held that Joiner failed to preserve his objection to the composition of the jury panel:

Neither the language used by the defense in calling the court's attention to the racially possibility of motivated nor his language expressing strikes trial court's disagreement with the ruling rise to the level of a request that the trial judge obtain a different jury panel, continue the trial, or We believe that it declare a mistrial. takes stronger language to indicate to the trial court that a defendant does not wish to subject his case to that It is not sufficient to jury panel. accept the jury panel and then wait until receipt of an adverse judgment before asserting an objection.

Id. at 556.

In so holding, the Fifth noted that three seminal cases decided by this Court had been "properly preserved," i.e., the defendants had done more than simply disagree, and had actually requested remedies. In State v. Slappy, 522 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219 (1988), the trial court denied a motion to strike the jury panel after the court accepted the state's inadequate explanation of multiple peremptory challenges of black jurors. In Kibler v. State, 546 So. 2d 710 (Fla. 1989), the trial court jury on the ground that the refused the dismiss the prosecutor used peremptory challenges to strike all three black persons called for services on the prospective jury In Reed v. State, 560 So. 2d 203 (Fla.), cert. panel. denied, 111 S.Ct. 230 (1990), the trial court denied a

motion for mistrial following a <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984), inquiry. 1

Based on the posture of these three cases, the Fifth District concluded:

We believe that a party must do more than request a Neil inquiry and voice disagreement with an opponent's explanation. If a party is dissatisfied with a jury panel after hearing explanation elicited through a Neil inquiry, some remedy should be requested of the trial court. For example, the defense in the instant case should have moved to strike the jury panel at some time during the jury selection process, but before the jury was sworn, at the See State v. Castillo, latest. So.2d 565 (Fla. 1986). The defense did not do this; on the contrary, at the end the jury selection, the defense stated that the jury was acceptable. Further, mention no οf the selection was made in the motions for acquittal during the trial, and it was only after receiving the adverse verdict and judgment that the issue was again raised in a motion for acquittal or new trial.

The initiation of a <u>Neil</u> inquiry and a dissatisfaction with the opponent's answer does not necessarily mean that the one who initiates the inquiry wishes to terminate a trial or request that the jury panel be stricken. The inquiry can be initiated to forewarn an opponent that caution should be exercised in

More recently, in <u>Jefferson v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 1992), the Florida Supreme Court once again addressed a <u>Neil</u> issue which had been properly preserved, i.e., Jefferson asked the trial court to discharge the venire and repeat voir dire with a new jury pool. Id. at 39.

exercising peremptory challenges without racially neutral reasons. Also, initiating inquiry the ultimately decide that the panel finally selected is acceptable. The trial court should not assume that a party wishes to have a panel stricken simply because a inquiry requested. Neil is affirmative action of a trial court must be clearly requested by a party before inaction can be assigned as error.

Joiner, 593 So. 2d at 556.

The First District found the instant case "on all-fours" with Joiner:

Here, defense counsel objected on the similar ground that venireman Kyle was the second black struck by the state, and similarly did no more after the trial court accepted the prosecutor's explanation than disagree with validity. Defense counsel thereafter affirmatively accepted the jury ultimately constituted, and it was sworn without further objection or motion to strike. As in <u>Joiner</u>, there was no mention of jury selection in the motions for acquittal made during the trial, and it was only after receiving the adverse verdict and judgment that the issue was again raised in a motion for new trial.

Brown, 17 Fla. L. Weekly at D2451. Likewise, in Moorehead v. State, 597 So. 2d 841 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), the Third District followed Joiner, in finding that Moorehead waived any error when, after the jury panel was selected and before being sworn, both Moorehead and his counsel accepted the panel as seated. Finally, in Suggs v. State, 603 So. 2d 6

(Fla. 5th DCA 1992), the Fifth District followed its own Joiner decision: "In this case, as in Joiner, defense counsel did not move to strike the jury panel before the members were sworn. His expression of disagreement with the trial court's determination after a Neil inquiry was not sufficient to preserve this issue for appeal." Id. at 8 (footnote omitted).

Joiner reasoning makes eminent sense. Ιf defendant initially objects to a particular strike, it is not clear if the objection is made with the intent to strike the jury panel, terminate the trial, or simply warn opposing Thus, when the trial court accepts the state's counsel. explanation for a given strike, if the defense still objects to the seating of that particular venireperson, it should again object and request some sort of action from the trial court to correct the problem and preserve the issue. at that point does the trial court become fully aware of the purpose behind the defendant's objection and then become capable of correcting the problem. This is the underlying current of the principle of preservation: To place the trial court on notice contemporaneously so that the court may correct any problem at the earliest juncture possible. Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1136, 1341 (Fla. 1990); Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). Without a request for affirmative action in the area of Neil challenges, a trial court is simply not put on full notice of any problem.

If this Court finds that the issue was preserved for appellate review, it is clear that the prosecutor offered a reasonable, non-pretextual, race neutral reason for striking venirewoman Kyle. As the prosecutor pointed out, Kyle's involvement in vocational training could have created an "undue sympathy" toward petitioner (T 144). Nevertheless,

- a reasonable explanation is not sufficient if the record demonstrates that it is a mere pretext. Slappy laid out five factors which would tend to show that the tendered explanation is an impermissible pretext.
 - (1) alleged group bias shown to be shared by the juror in question; (2) failure examine the juror perfunctory examination, assuming neither the trial court nor opposing counsel had questioned the juror, singling the juror out for special questioning designed to evoke a certain response, (4) the prosecutor's reason is unrelated to the facts of the case, and (5) a challenge based on reasons equally applicable to juror[s] who were not challenged.

Slappy at 22.

Gadson v. State, 561 So. 2d 1316, 1317 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

In the present case, none of these factors is operative. In fact, the record fully supports the validity and neutrality of the reason, as the state struck another venirewoman employed in the same profession as venirewoman

Kyle, i.e., Ms. Lee, who was a counselor at Northeast
Florida State Hospital (T 39, 146).

CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities and arguments, the state respectfully requests this Honorable Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative.